
 

 

 

 

COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Date: Wednesday, 16th March, 2022 

 Time: 7.00 pm 

 Venue: 
 

The Guildhall 

 
 



2 

COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE  
 

Information for Members of the Public 
 
Access to the Guildhall is via the front entrance in the High Street.  The nearest car park is 

Copenhagen Street (pay and display). If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility, access 

to the Guildhall can be gained either through the door on the right side of the forecourt as you face the 

Guildhall, or through the sliding doors at the rear of the Guildhall. There is dedicated disabled parking 

space at the rear (access via Copenhagen Street). Most meetings are held on the ground floor, which 

can be reached by using a lift.  If you are a wheelchair user or have restricted mobility and you wish to 

attend a meeting, please telephone or email the officer mentioned below in advance and we will make 

any necessary arrangements to assist your visit. 

 

Part I of the Agenda includes items for discussion in public.  You have the right to inspect copies of 

Minutes and reports on this part of the Agenda as well as background documents used in the 

preparation of these reports. Details of the background papers appear at the foot of each report. Part II 

of the Agenda (if applicable) deals with items of 'Exempt Information' for which it is anticipated that 

the public may be excluded from the meeting and neither reports nor background papers are open to 

public inspection. 

 

Please note that this is a public meeting and members of the public and press are permitted to report 

on the proceedings. "Reporting" includes filming, photographing, making an audio recording and 

providing commentary on proceedings. Any communicative method can be used to report on the 

proceedings, including the internet, to publish, post or share the proceedings. Accordingly, the 

attendance of members of the public at this meeting may be recorded and broadcast. By choosing to 

attend this public meeting you are deemed to have given your consent to being filmed or recorded and 

for any footage to be broadcast or published.   

 

Please note the Council records and live streams many of its meetings. These recordings are published 

on the relevant meeting pages of the Council’s website. A notice to this effect will be posted in the 

meeting room. If a member of the public chooses to speak at a meeting of the City Council he/she will 

be deemed to have given their consent to being recorded and audio being published live to the 

Council’s website. The Chair of the meeting, can at their discretion, terminate or suspend recording, if 

in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or if they consider 

that continued recording might infringe the rights of any individual, or breach any statutory provision. 

 

At the start of the meeting under the item 'Public Participation' up to fifteen minutes in total is allowed 

for members of the public to present a petition, ask a question or comment on any matter on the 

Agenda.  Participants need to indicate that they wish to speak by 4.30 p.m. on the last working day 

before the meeting by writing, telephoning or E-Mailing the officer mentioned below. 

 

If you have any general enquires or queries about this Agenda or require any details of background 

papers, further documents or information, or to discuss arrangements for the taking of photographs, 

film, video or sound recording please contact the Lead Officer, Julian Pugh, Democratic Services 

Administrator, Guildhall, Worcester WR1 2EY.  Telephone: 01905 722027 (direct line); E-Mail Address:  

committeeadministration@worcester.gov.uk. 

 

This agenda can be made available in large print, braille, on PC disk, tape or in a number of ethnic 

minority languages.  Please contact the above named officer for further information. 

 

Agendas and minutes relating to all City Council Committees and Council Meetings are also available 

electronically, click on the option “Committee Minutes and Documents”, Website Address: 

worcester.gov.uk 

 

 



3 

Communities Committee 
Wednesday, 16 March 2022 

 

Members of the Committee:- 

 

Chair: Councillor James Stanley (C) 
Vice-Chair: Councillor Jabbar Riaz (L) 

 
Councillor Bill Amos (C) 

Councillor Marjory Bisset (G) 
Councillor Tom Collins (L) 
Councillor Lynn Denham (L) 

 

Councillor Nida Hassan (C) 

Councillor Stephen Hodgson (C) 
Councillor Mike Johnson (C) 
Councillor Matthew Lamb (L) 

 
 

  
C= Conservative G = Green L = Labour LCo = Labour and Co-operative  

LD = Liberal Democrat 

 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 

(ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION IN PUBLIC) 
 

1. Appointment of Substitutes  

 To receive details of any Members appointed to attend the meeting instead of a 
Member of the Committee. 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest. 
 

3. Public Participation  

 To receive details of any Members appointed to attend the meeting instead of a 
Member of the Committee. 

 

4. Minutes  

Page(s): 1 - 4 

 Of the meeting held on 26th January 2022 to be approved and signed. 
 

5. Purple Flag Status  

 To receive a presentation from Samantha McCarthy, Chief Executive, Worcester 
BID. 

 

6. Review of the Housing Enforcement Policy  

Page(s): 5 - 28 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Richard Osborne, Interim Private Sector Housing Manager 
Tel: 01905 722525 



4 

 That the Committee: 
 

1. Notes the contents of the report; and 
 

2. Approves the draft Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 at Appendix 1. 
 

7. Proposed Committee Performance Scorecard for 2022/23  

Page(s): 29 - 34 

Ward(s): All Wards 

Contact Officer:  Joanna Payne, Corporate Policy and Strategy Officer 

Tel: 01905 722407 

 That the Communities Committee consider the proposed content of the 
Communities Performance Scorecard for 2022/23. 

 

8. Any Other Business  

 Which in the opinion of the Chair is of sufficient urgency as to warrant 

consideration. 
 



COMMUNITIES COMMITTEE 

 
26th January 2022 

 
Present:  
 

Councillor James Stanley in the Chair 

 Councillors Barnes, Bayliss, Bisset, Carver, 
Denham, Ditta, Gregson, S. Hodgson, 

Johnson and Lamb 
 

Officers: Mark Baldwin, Head of Finance 

Shane Flynn, Corporate Director – Finance 
and Resources 

Lloyd Griffiths, Corporate Director – 
Operations, Homes and Communities 
Warwick Neale, Head of Community 

Services 
Basia Ligas, Community Cohesion Officer 

 
32 Appointment of Substitutes  

 

Councillor Bayliss for Councillor Bill Amos, Councillor Barnes for Councillor Collins, 
Councillor Ditta for Councillor Hassan, Councillor Gregson for Councillor Riaz. 

 
33 Declarations of Interest  

 

None. 
 

34 Public Participation  
 
None. 

 
35 Minutes  

 
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 3rd November 2021 
be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
36 Setting of the Budget for 2022/23 and Medium Term Financial Plan to 

2026/27  
 

The Committee considered the proposed budgets for Community Services for 
2022/23. The Committee reviewed the priorities within each service and the 
initiatives proposed in the Income and Efficiency plan, and reviewed the City Plan 

allocations. The Committee also considered the draft Capital Programme to 
2026/27. The Corporate Director – Finance and Resources presented the report 

and Officers responded to questions from Members. 
 
In the ensuing discussion, the Committee debated the following new budget 

proposals which had been received by the Chair: 
 

• Worcester Food Bank - £45,000 for continuation of funding for three years. 
• Northwick Park  - £10,000 for installation of an artificial cricket wicket. 
• Comer Gardens Institute - £140,000 to convert upper floor to a community 

facility area. 

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



 26th January 2022 2 

 
 

• Gorse Hill and Elbury Mount Local Nature Reserve - £50,000 for changes to 

the existing entrance gates and fencing to improve security. 
 

The rationale for each of the above items was summarised in the report.  
 
Some Members highlighted the level of financial commitment in respect of the 

Comer Gardens Institute proposal, and expressed the view that they could not 
support the request without considering a full business case. Other Members 

spoke in support of the proposal and its potential benefit to the local community, 
particularly as there is currently only one community centre on the west side of 
Worcester. In response, the Corporate Director – Finance and Resources advised 

that this will be a new capital scheme, and if approved for inclusion in the capital 
programme, will be subject to a detailed business case to be presented to this 

Committee at a future date.  
 
The Chairman raised a further new budget proposal, which was to allocate 

£40,033 funding to continue the Housing and Benefits Casework Officer post at 
Citizens Advice Worcester for 2022-23. It was explained that the Committee had 

previously allocated £35,000 to Citizens Advice Worcester as part of the City 
Council’s Community Recovery Strategy. This funding had supported and 
additional Benefits and Housing Caseworker. The number of caseworkers was 

likely to decrease from June 2022 due to uncertainty with funding from the Money 
Advice and Pensions Service, and Citizens Advice Worcester had therefore 

requested funding in order to seek to maintain their current level of casework 
provision in Worcester City. In the ensuing debate on this item, the Committee 

expressed support in principle, but asked for more detail on the request to be 
provided to Policy and Resources Committee for approval. The Corporate Director 
- Finance and Resources stated that this information can be annexed to the report 

on new budget proposals from the policy committees to the February Policy and 
Resources Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Committee agree to: 
 

1. note the proposed Budgets for the various services identified for 
2022/23; 

 
2. note the priorities within each service; 
 

3. note the services’ Capital Programme and future projects; and 
 

4. recommend the Policy and Resources Committee to agree the following 
new budget proposals: 

 

 Worcester Food Bank - £45,000 for continuation of funding for 
three years. 

• Northwick Park  - £10,000 for installation of an artificial cricket 
wicket. 

• Comer Gardens Institute - £140,000 to convert upper floor to a 

community facility area. 
• Gorse Hill and Elbury Mount Local Nature Reserve - £50,000 for 

changes to the existing entrance gates and fencing to improve 
security. 

Page 2



 26th January 2022 3 

 
 

• Citizens Advice Worcester - £40,033 – to continue the Housing and 

Benefits Casework Officer post for 2022-23 - approval subject to 
further details being provided to Policy and Resources Committee 

on the request. 
 
(Councillor Bayliss asked to be recorded as voting for the Comer Gardens 

Institute proposal) 
 

37 Performance Report Quarter 3  
 
The Committee considered a report on the Council’s Quarter 3 performance for 

Communities for 2021/22. The Corporate Director – Operations, Homes and 
Communities presented the report and Officers responded to questions from 

Committee Members. 
 
In the ensuing discussion, the following main points were made: 

 
 It was highlighted that some Key Performance Indicators have no current 

target (Crime Incidents, Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents, Homelessness 
Resolution, Homelessness Prevented). In response, Officers advised that 
this will be picked up when proposed Scorecards for 2022/23 are 

considered at the March meeting of the Committee. 
 

 Reference was made to the number of small community grants awarded, 
and whether funds are still available in this financial year In response, 

Members were advised that the budget for medium grants has now been 
fully allocated, however the Council has been able to access the Contain 
Outbreak Management Fund to enhance the community grants provision so 

more funds are available. 
 

 Officers acknowledged that the number of inspections of houses in multiple 
occupation has been affected by Covid restrictions. There will be pro-active 
work to help recover from this backlog and additional staff resources are 

being sought currently to help accomplish this. 
 

RESOLVED: That the Committee agree to note the Council’s Quarter 3 
performance. 
 

38 Completion Report on the Thriving EU Migrants Community and City 
Project (Brexit)  

 
The Committee considered a report highlighting the activities undertaken as part 
of the ‘Thriving Migrants, Communities and City’ project carried out by the 

Council’s Community Engagement Team following the successful allocation of 
Government funds dedicated to Brexit preparedness. The Head of Community 

Services presented the report and explained that the funding had been used to 
appoint an additional post for a fixed term of 12 months to provide community 
support to local citizens affected by Brexit. Despite the Covid-19 pandemic, the 

project officer was able to deliver a high volume of case work, with increasing 
complexity as the project went on. The project had enabled high quality 

engagement with communities in delivering the outreach vaccination programme. 
Strong relationships have been established with a variety of communities and it 
was anticipated that these will develop in time through ongoing community 

Page 3



 26th January 2022 4 

 
 

projects. A number of individual cases which had been progressed successfully 

were highlighted. 
 

Basia Ligas, the Community Cohesion Officer who had delivered the project, also 
spoke and thanked the Council for agreeing to undertake this project. She 
commented on the achievements and expressed the view that there is a need for 

continuing support for migrants locally. 
 

Committee Members expressed their appreciation for the work done by Officers in 
making the scheme a success. In the ensuing discussion, it was agreed that a 
copy of the report should be sent to Robin Walker, MP and also that Officers 

should look at potential funding sources for continuation of the key outcomes of 
this project. 

 
RESOLVED: That the Committee agree to: 
 

1. note the contents of the report and in particular the direct and indirect 
outcomes delivered through the project;  

2. request Officers to send a copy of the report to Robin Walker, MP; and  
3. request Officers to investigate potential funding opportunities for 

continuation of the project. 

 
39 Any Other Business  

 
None. 

 
 
 

Duration of the meeting: 7.00p.m. – 8.20p.m. 
 

 
 
 

Chair at the meeting on 
16th March 2022 

Page 4



 

 
 

Report to: Communities Committee, 16th March 2022 
 

Report of: Corporate Director, Operations, Homes & Communities 
 

 
Subject: REVIEW OF THE HOUSING ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

 
1. Recommendation 

 

That the Committee: 
 

1.1 Notes the contents of the report; and 
 

1.2 Approves the draft Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 at Appendix 1. 
 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The Council’s substantive Housing Enforcement Policy was introduced in 2014 and 

was last revised in May 2017.  In line with Government guidance an interim Housing 
Enforcement Policy – COVID-19 Interim Measures, was introduced in March 2020. 

2.2 This report refers to the review of the substantive Housing Enforcement Policy 

because of recent legislative changes. 

2.3 It is important the Council has in place an up to date, clear enforcement policy to 

ensure proportionate and fair enforcement of housing offences and to support 
transparency in decision making. This is essential to support overall the 
improvement of standards in the private rented sector.  

2.4 Whilst most landlords do comply with legal requirements for property standards 
there are a minority that are failing to meet minimum standards. For example, there 

are approximately 190 rented properties failing to meet minimum energy efficiency 
standards out of a private rented market likely to be around 9000 properties. 

2.5 A revised Housing Enforcement Policy has been drafted that brings together 

currently separate policies on civil penalties, energy efficiency and new electrical 
safety requirements to make clear the scope of housing enforcement and focus on 

policy more than strategic context. This is simpler and more direct for landlords to 
understand what legal requirements they must meet; possible actions open to the 
council and how the council will determine appropriate action. 

2.6 It is essential to have clear policies to back up legal requirements and to ensure any 
enforcement cases taken are seen to be fair and transparent and in accordance with 

national guidance on enforcement such as the code for crown prosecutors. 

2.7 From 1st July 2020 the Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector 
(England) Regulations 2020 apply to all new tenancies. From 1st April 2021 these 

Regulations will apply to all existing tenancies.  
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 6



 

2.8 These Regulations have been introduced to make it mandatory for all private rented 
properties to ensure that every electrical installation in the residential premises is 

inspected and tested at regular intervals, not more than 5 years, by a qualified 
person.  

 

2.9 The landlord must obtain a report of the inspection and supply a copy of the report 
within 7 days of a request by the Local Authority. The Local Authority can impose a 

financial penalty, to maximum of £30,000, where it is satisfied that beyond 
reasonable doubt that the landlord has failed in their legal duty. It can also impose 
more than one penalty if the landlord continues to breach the regulations.  

 
2.10 It is proposed to set the financial penalty to be £1,000 for the first offence. This is in 

line with the charge for not having a smoke detector in a rented property and the 
same level of fine set for HMO Management Regulation Breaches such as Gas Safety 

certification. The proposed penalty for a second or continued offence by the same 
landlord is £3,000. 
 

2.11 The Private Sector Housing Team will enforce the legislation and will be promoting 
these changes through local letting agents and known landlords. These 

proposed baseline fine levels are in line with those of neighbouring authorities. 
 
2.12 The Government’s ambition is to improve the energy performance of privately rented 

properties as improving a home’s energy efficiency helps the occupants keep warm, 
reduce their energy bills and provides better protection for their health and 

wellbeing. Those benefits are particularly important to households on lower incomes 
and in homes which are expensive to heat. 

 

2.13 From 1st April 2020 it became an offence to let out a property with an energy 
efficiency rating lower than an E rating without a valid exemption. Energy 

Performance Certificates that state the energy efficiency rating are required to be 
supplied to tenants at the start of the tenancy and are registered on a national 
register.  

 
2.14 These Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard (MEES) requirements are set out in 

regulations that provide the council with the ability to issue financial penalties for 
non-compliance with the standard and for failing to respond to a request for 
information. The proposed fine levels and mechanism for individual determination 

are set out in the proposed policy. 
 

2.15 Empty properties are often a blight on the local community and a wasted resource 
when there are families in need of affordable accommodation. The proposed policy 
expands the scope for the delegated officers in the Private Sector Housing Team to 

take a more holistic approach than currently in place. This is by providing powers to 
secure empty properties that are open to access, clear up rubbish etc. that could 

harbour pests and by making it clear that housing act powers to bring properties up 
to a habitable standard will be applied to empty properties to help encourage them 
back into use.  

 
3. Preferred Option  

 
3.1 The proposed housing enforcement policy sets out that the Council costs associated 

with enforcement should be recovered where opportunity provides.  

Page 6



 

There is a preference to use civil penalty action (issuing fines) rather than 
prosecution where that mechanism is available unless it is deemed in the public 

interest to do otherwise. This reduces court activity that is expensive and time 
consuming to both the council and landlords.  

4. Alternative Options Considered 

 
4.1 If the Council does not have an up to date policy, the enforcement activity of the 

council will be limited, landlords will not be able to be held to account and residents 
will be subject to impacts on their health, safety and wellbeing. 

4.2 If the Council does not incorporate a more holistic approach to empty property 

enforcement, then problem properties will take co-ordination between different 
departments and Worcestershire Regulatory Services that is inevitably less effective. 

5. Implications 
 

5.1 Financial and Budgetary Implications 
 
This work will be undertaken within the existing resources. Any financial penalty 

proceeds are required to go towards meeting the costs and expenses occurred in, or 
associated with, carrying out its enforcement function within the private rented 

sector.  
 
Any recovered financial penalty which is not applied in accordance to this must be 

paid into the Consolidated Fund. Therefore, the income can be used to ensure staff 
are adequately trained and equipped to undertake the functions. 

 
5.2 Legal and Governance Implications 

 

There is a legal duty from both the regulations for the local housing authority to 
undertake enforcement.  

 
5.3 Risk Implications 

 

There is a risk of legal challenge if this process is not followed correctly which 
could result in First Tier Property Tribunals overturning notices and penalty fines. 

These legal, reputational and financial risks will be mitigated through officers 
receiving training and updates and working closely with the legal services team. 
 

5.4 Corporate/Policy Implications 
 

Within the new Worcester City Plan 2022 – 2027, the ‘Stronger and Connected 
Communities’ Priority includes an aim for the City to have ‘a wide mixture of good 
quality housing provision to suit the full range of needs’ and to ‘reduce the number 

of underused property and reduced number of substandard rental properties’. 
 

5.5 Equality Implications 
 
The policy will have a positive impact on the health, safety and welfare of vulnerable 

tenants. 
 

 
 

Page 7



 

5.6 Human Resources Implications 
 

None. 
 

5.7 Health and Safety Implications 

 
None. 

 
5.8 Social, Environmental and Economic Implications 

Improvements to energy efficiency standards will help make rental properties more 
affordable and sustainable for persons on low income. They will also have a 

significant impact on carbon production from energy use. 

 

Ward(s):   ALL 
Contact Officer: Richard Osborne – Interim Private Sector Housing 

Manager 
 Tel: 01905 722525 
 E-mail: Richard.osborne@worcester.gov.uk  

 
Background Papers:   

 
Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/962/contents/made 

 
The Domestic Private Rented Property Minimum Standard guidance 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach 
ment_data/file/882957/Domestic_Private_Rented_Property_Minimum_Standard_- 
_Landlord_Guidance_2020.pdf 

 
Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934 
 
Guide for Local Authorities: Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/electrical-safety-standards-in-theprivate- 
rented-sector-guidance-for-landlords-tenants-and-local-authorities/ 
 

Page 8

mailto:Richard.osborne@worcester.gov.uk
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/962/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2020/9780111191934


 

 

 Worcester City Council  

 

Housing 

Enforcement  

Policy 
 
 

Title  Housing Enforcement Policy  

Status  Draft  

Document Version  V.4 

Author  Richard Osborne 

Sponsor  Lloyd Griffiths 

Owner  Strategic Housing  

Approved by  

Approved date  

Review frequency  As required (legislative/strategic or financial 
change)  

 
 

 Version History  

Version  Date  Description  

0.1  02.09.2014  

0.2  24.03.2015  Update complaints procedure  

0.3  04.05.2017  Update following recent legislation 

0.4 02.2022 Legislation update, clarification of 
scope and incorporate financial 

and civil penalty. 

 

 

  

Page 9 Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 

Worcester City Council Housing Enforcement Policy 2022 
 
1. General 
 
1.1 The content of this policy will be revised as necessary to meet changing circumstances and the 

Policy shall be reviewed by Officers at least every three years or whenever significant legislative 
changes occur, and proposed amendments shall be approved through the appropriate 
mechanism. 

 
1.2  All relevant officers are required to support and comply with the policy... 
 
1.3 The policy considers and complies with the provisions of The Regulators’ Code 2014.  
 
1.4 This policy considers the guidance set out in the ‘Code for Crown Prosecutors’. 
 
1.5 The Council recognises that there are many situations where there is a shared or 

complementary role with other agencies.  All relevant officers will work together with other 
agencies to ensure that the best possible outcome is achieved within the terms of this Policy.  
This will require actively seeking collaboration with agencies such as the Police, Fire Authority, 
Magistrates Courts, Trading Standards, Health and Safety Executive as well as internal 
colleagues of the Council such as Development Control, Building Control and Legal Services.  
This list of agencies is indicative, but it is by no means exhaustive. 

 
1.6 This Policy is available to the public on request and is also available on the Council’s website 

www.worcester.gov.uk. Any comments on the enforcement policy can be made to the Head of 
Homes and Communities as service lead. 

 
1.7 The Council agrees that effective and well targeted regulation is essential in promoting fairness 

and protection from harm.  However, the Council agrees that, in achieving these and other 
legitimate objectives, regulation and enforcement should be proportionate and flexible enough to 
allow, or even encourage, economic progress. 

 
1.8 Owner-occupied properties will not normally be the subject of enforcement of property standards 

unless they are having a detrimental effect on other properties or on the area. For example, a 
home owner with a roof leak affecting an attached property and not responding to informal 
requests to repair. 

 
 
2. Areas of Enforcement 
 

Areas of enforcement where this Housing Enforcement Policy applies are: 
 

 Property standards for rented and other properties where appropriate 

 Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards 

 Electrical Safety 

 Harassment and illegal eviction  

 Empty properties 

 Filthy and hoarded properties  

 Household Drainage 
 

And all further activities related to the above. Officers are also authorised to use other relevant powers 
for example the ability to require property related information to be provided under the Local 
Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976, section 16. 
 

Page 10

http://www.worcester.gov.uk/


 

3. Purpose 
 

To ensure that enforcement decisions will be fair, consistent and undertaken in an open manner 
appropriate to the risk posed by non-compliance. In particular in responding to non-compliance 
that officers identify, we will clearly explain what the non-compliant item or activity is, the advice 
being given, actions required, or decisions taken, and the reasons for these. Where the risk is 
not significant and imminent and therefore requiring immediate formal action, we will provide an 
opportunity for dialogue in relation to the advice, requirements or decisions, with a view to 
ensuring that they are acting in a way that is proportionate and consistent. 

 
 
4. Principles of Enforcement 
 

The council’s approach to Enforcement of the law will be informed by the principles of;: 
 

 Proportionality in applying the law and securing compliance 

 Consistency of approach 

 Transparency about how the Council, as a regulator operates, and what those regulated 
may expect 

 Targeting, using risk assessment to channel resources into high-risk areas 

 Helpfulness, as the Council believe that prevention is better than cure and will attempt to 
alter the behaviour of the offenders 

 Standards to be drawn up in consultation with interested parties, setting out our service 
levels and expected performance 

 Procedures to deal with complaints of poor, inappropriate or non-existent service; the 
policy will be well publicised, effective and readily accessible to all 

 It must be in the public interest to prosecute 
 
 
4.1 Proportionality 
 

Proportionality means relating enforcement action to the risks.  Those whom the law protects 
and those on whom it places duties can expect that action taken by the Council to achieve 
compliance will be proportionate to any risks to public health or the environment and to the 
seriousness of that risk. 

 
4.2 Consistency 
 

Consistency of approach does not mean uniformity.  It means taking a similar approach in 
similar circumstances to achieve similar aims.  The Council will also work closely with other 
enforcement agencies in its efforts to achieve consistency. 

 
4.3 Transparency 
 

Transparency means that the Council undertakes to help those regulated to understand what is 
expected of them and what they in turn can expect from the Council.  It also means making 
clear to those regulated not only what they have to do but where this is relevant, what they don’t 
have to do.  In other words, the Council will distinguish clearly between statutory requirements 
and advice or guidance what is desirable but not compulsory. General information and advice 
will be provided in clear and concise language using a range of appropriate formats and media. 

 
4.4 Targeting 
 

Page 11



 

Targeting means making sure that inspections are targeted primarily towards those activities 
where they would be most effective by assessing the risks to their regulatory outcomes.  The 
Council will ensure that the risk assessment proceeds and informs all aspects of its approach 
and regulatory activity, including: 
 

 Data collection and other information requirements 

 Inspection programmes 

 Advice and support programmes 

 Enforcement and sanctions 
 

Risk assessments will be carried out according to the principles contained within ‘The 
Regulators Compliance Code’.  Higher risk activities such as Houses in Multiple Occupation will 
naturally receive more attention than single let properties. Landlords who have a history of 
failing to comply with legal requirements can expect their properties to be pro-actively targeted 
for inspection.  The council will pro-actively target investigation of rented properties found to be 
not complying with minimum energy efficiency standards. Empty properties will be risk scored 
and prioritised when they are empty for a longer period of time. 

 
 

4.5 Helpfulness 
 

The Council believes that part of its role is working actively with any person affected by its 
services to advise on and assist with compliance.  The Council will provide a friendly, courteous, 
easily contactable, effective service which will deal promptly with service requests whilst 
minimising unnecessary overlaps and time delays. 

 
4.6 Standards 
 

The Council has corporate standards setting out the level of service and performance which the 
public and business proprietors can expect to receive. Routine complaints and enquiries will be 
responded to within 5 working days whenever possible given resources available and staff will 
prioritise resources and response based on perceived relative risks.  

 
4.7 Complaints Procedure 
 

The Council has published details of it Corporate Complaints Procedure.  The procedure is 
aimed at dealing effectively with complaints of poor, inappropriate or non-existent service.  This 
means making the procedure readily accessible to all services users including those regulated.  
The Corporate Complaints Procedure forms part of the Council’s performance monitoring 
systems to assist in continuous improvements of the services which the Council provides.  In 
cases where disputes cannot be resolved, any right of complaint or appeal will be explained, 
with details of the process and the likely timescales involved. 

 
4.8 Public Interest 
 

When formal action is necessary the person responsible for creating the risk must be held to 
account for it.  However, it must still be in the wider public interest that enforcement action is 
taken. 

 
 
5. Enforcement Options 
 

When conducting formal investigations, Officers will adhere to Police and Criminal Evidence 
(P.A.C.E), Code of Practice on Disclosure of Information. Although technically available as an 
option, enforcement action will only be taken against owner occupiers where their action, or lack 

Page 12



 

of, adversely affects neighbouring properties or there is a clear existent or imminent potential 
risk to public health, safety or the environment. 

 
 
5.1 Advice and Assistance 
 

Advice from an Enforcement Officer will be clear, readily understandable and confirmed in 
writing upon request.  Before formal action is taken, an opportunity will normally be given to 
discuss the circumstances of the case unless there is need for immediate action due to the 
severity of the situation or to prevent evidence being destroyed, or to respond to a repeat 
offender.  Where immediate action is considered necessary an explanation will be given as soon 
as possible and, confirmed in writing.  Any written documentation issued will contain all the 
information needed to understand what work is required, why it is needed and shall state the 
legislation contravened and measures to enable compliance with the legal requirements.  
Financial assistance is available in certain circumstances under the Council’s Housing 
Assistance Policy.  Details will be given of all rights of appeal, whether to the Council or to 
external bodies. 

 
5.2 Informal Action 
 

Informal action to secure compliance with legislation includes advice, verbal warnings and 
requests for action, the use of letters and inspection reports.  The circumstances when it is 
appropriate to consider using informal action are as follows; 
 

 The act was not sufficiently serious to require formal action 

 From past history, it can be reasonable expected that informal action will achieve 
compliance 

 The result of non-compliance will not cause a significant risk to public health, safety, 
wellbeing or the environment 

 Where informal action will be more effective than formal action 
 
5.3 Statutory Notices and Carrying out Works 
 

Enforcement Officer’s will consider the use of statutory notices, where one or more of the 
following apply; 

 

 There is a legal requirement to act 

 There is/are significant contraventions of legislation 

 There is a lack of confidence in response to an informal approach 

 There is a history of noncompliance with informal action 

 There is evidence of little knowledge of statutory requirements 

 The result of noncompliance could be potentially serious to public health, safety 
wellbeing or the environment 

 
Statutory notices will only be issued by officers who have been authorised and are considered 
competent. The failure to comply with a Statutory Notice served under e.g. The Housing Act 
2004 is likely to result in a civil penalty or court proceedings where the circumstances fulfil the 
criteria in the Enforcement Policy. If a right of appeal exists, details will be included with the 
notice. 

 
It should be noted that some notices are served in order to obtain specific information and, as 
such, do not represent enforcement action. 

 

Page 13



 

Works may be carried out in default of the responsible person. This will be considered on a case 
by case basis. Emergency works can also be carried out where appropriate. This is typically 
where the property owner/ landlord cannot be contacted or is refusing to take action on a 
situation deemed to be presenting imminent risk. The carrying out of any works in default does 
not prevent the consideration of other formal action such as formal caution, civil penalty or 
prosecution.  

 
 
5.4 Formal Cautions 
 

Formal Cautions, where appropriate, will be issued in accordance with Home Office Guidelines.  
A Formal Caution may be issued where there is sufficient evidence to provide a realistic 
prospect of conviction but because of the attitude, history and willingness to co-operate, it is 
considered inappropriate to prosecute.  To issue a Formal Caution the Council must be satisfied 
that the offender has admitted to the offence in writing and has agreed to be cautioned. Formal 
cautions issued may be cited when considering any similar offences within three subsequent 
years. 

 
5.5 Prosecution 
 

Prosecution may normally be warranted when one or more of the following apply; 
 

 Where the offence involves a significant breach of the law such that public health, safety, 
wellbeing or the environment is or has been put at risk 

 Where the alleged offence involves a failure by the suspected offender to correct an 
identified potential risk having been given the opportunity to comply with the lawful 
requirements of an authorised Officer 

 Where the offence involves a failure to comply in full or in part with the requirements of a 
Statutory Notice 

 Where there is a history of similar offences related to risk to public health, safety, 
wellbeing or the environment 

 
Before a prosecution goes ahead, the officer responsible for deciding on the enforcement action 
will liaise with the Legal Services team to be satisfied that there is relevant, substantial and 
reliable evidence that an offence has been committed. 
The alleged offender will normally be given the opportunity to state their case and 
circumstances around any alleged offence prior to formal consideration of prosecution. 

 
5.6 Civil Penalties and Financial Penalties 
 

The Housing and Planning Act 2016 amended the Housing Act 2004 and introduced Civil 
Penalties as an alternative to prosecution for offences in relation to licensing Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs), failure to comply with an improvement notice and failure to comply with 
HMO management regulations.   The legislation allows a maximum financial penalty of £30,000 
to be imposed per offence. Given the history of relatively low fines imposed by magistrates for 
prosecutions for these offences and the fact that any civil penalty money received by the 
Council will be used to support the work of the Private Sector Housing Team, the use of Civil 
Penalties will be the normal approach to such offences rather than prosecution unless public 
interest warrants the action of prosecution, for example to enable a Banning Order.  In 
determining whether to impose a financial penalty the Council will have regard to any relevant 
local enforcement policy and any relevant governmental guidance. In particular the factors set 
out in 3.5 of the Government Guidance on Civil Penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 
2016 has been incorporated into the charging table adjustments set out in Appendix 1.  The 
associated financial penalty procedures are attached in appendix 2.  The framework for setting a 
civil penalty for a specific situation has been consulted with the West Midlands Housing 

Page 14



 

Enforcement Officers Group and a common approach been adopted.  Each specific case will be 
assessed on its own merits and the charging table used as a framework to aid assessment and 
determination of an appropriate civil penalty. 
 
Financial penalties are provided for in certain legislation and regulations, for example 
requirements for electrical safety in private rented accommodation and the regulations requiring 
minimum energy efficiency standards to be provided in private rented accommodation. The 
approach to determining appropriate financial penalties are covered in detail in Appendices 3 
and 4 of this policy.  
 
All financial penalty considerations are open to a review request by the affected person. Any 
review will be undertaken by a line manager or other person to ensure independent 
consideration from the investigating officer.  
 
The setting of a civil or financial penalty fine will take into account aggravating and mitigating 
factors including any submission by the responsible person. Such factors will include any 
financial or other harm caused, any financial gain or costs avoided, history of compliance, 
deterrent and investigation costs. 

 
 
5.7  Banning Orders 
 

The Government has advised that from October 2017, when a landlord is prosecuted for a 
relevant offence, the Council may seek a Banning Order to prevent that person from managing 
rented property.  When this power comes into force, this will only be used where there is a 
persistent offender who has been subject to prosecution for multiple offences, in line with any 
Government guidance issued.  

 
 
6. Accountability and Liaison with Businesses 
 

The council will regularly consult on the service it provides and comments received will be used 
to change procedures where appropriate.  Landlords and other businesses we deal with should 
feel they are able to communicate with officers directly and that we will take account of their 
business in how we deal with them. Landlords are met with directly and via the Landlord Forum 
in order to help inform them and receive feedback and input into our policy determination. 
Normal practice will be to inform businesses where possible of new or changed legal 
requirements and we will always seek to offer advice and assistance where appropriate. 

 
 
7. Costs of Enforcement, licensing and other activities 
 

The reasonable costs associated with enforcement, licensing and other activities will be charged 
to the responsible persons.  For example, the costs of inspection and notice being served under 
the Housing Act 2004 and officer time costs associated with any works in default carried out 
along with the works costs. House in Multiple Occupation Licences and renewals will also be 
charged at a rate to reflect the officer time and cost involved including an administration 
element. Penalty Fees will also be charged to include consideration of officer time costs, 
administration and a deterrent element based upon history of compliance when available.  
Specific fees and charges will be reviewed annually and published by the Council as part of the 
overall fees and charges structure. The Council will actively seek to recover any costs incurred 
through use of civil action and use of enforced sale of property under the Law of Property Act 
1925 where applicable. 
 

   

Page 15



 

8. Rent Repayment Orders 
  
8.1 The Housing Act 2004 introduced rent repayment orders to cover situations where the landlord 

of a property had failed to obtain a licence for a property that was required to be licensed, 
specifically offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation (section 72(1)) and 
offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act (section 95(1)).  Rent 
repayment orders have now been extended through the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to 
cover a much wider range of offences which are described below. 

 
8.2 Rent repayment orders are being extended to cover the following situations:  
 

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice under section 30 of the Housing Act 2004;  

 Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order under section 32 of the Housing Act 2004;  

 Breach of a banning order made under section 21 of the Housing and Planning Act 
2016;3   

 Using violence to secure entry to a property under section 6 of the Criminal Law Act 
1977;  

 Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers of a property under section 1 of the 
Protection from Eviction Act 1977 
 

8.3 A rent repayment order can be applied for when the landlord has committed an offence, whether 
or not a landlord has been convicted of one of the offences listed above.  Where an application 
for a rent repayment order is made and the landlord has not been convicted of the offence for 
which the rent repayment order application is being made, the First-tier Tribunal will need to be 
satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the landlord has committed the offence. 

 
8.4 Where a landlord has been convicted of the offence to which the rent repayment order relates, 

the First-tier Tribunal must order that the maximum amount of rent is repaid (capped at a 
maximum of 12 months). 

 
8.5 Where a landlord has not been convicted of the offence to which the rent repayment order 

application relates, the following factors should be taken into account when considering how 
much rent a local housing authority should seek to recover:  

 
a. Punishment of the offender.  Rent repayment orders should have a real economic impact 

on the offender and demonstrate the consequences of not complying with their 
responsibilities.  Factors that a local housing authority may wish to consider include the 
conduct of the landlord and tenant, the financial circumstances of the landlord and whether 
the landlord has previously been convicted of similar offences;  
 

b. Deter the offender from repeating the offence.  The level of the penalty should be set at a 
high enough level such that it is likely to deter the offender from repeating the offence;  

 
c.   Dissuade others from committing similar offences.  Rent repayment orders are imposed 

by the First-tier Tribunal and so the fact someone has received a rent repayment order will 
be in the public domain.  Robust and proportionate use of rent repayment orders is likely to 
help ensure others comply with their responsibilities.   

  
d. Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of 

committing the offence.  This is an important element of rent repayment orders: the 
landlord is forced to repay rent, and thereby loses much, if not all, of the benefit that accrued 
to them by not complying with their responsibilities. 

 

Page 16



 

8.6 A local housing authority can impose a civil penalty or prosecute for the offence and apply for a 
rent repayment order for certain offences.  Both sanctions are available for the following 
offences under the Housing Act 2004:  

 

 Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30);  

 Offences in relation to licensing of Houses of Multiple Occupation (section 72(1)); 

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under part 3 of the Act (Section 95(1)) 
 
8.7 If a local housing authority becomes aware that a person who is a landlord has been convicted 

of any of the offences listed at paragraph 4.2, and the offence was committed in their area, it 
must consider applying for a rent repayment order. 

 
8.8 The First-tier Tribunal must order that the maximum amount of rent (up to 12 months) is repaid 

where the landlord has been convicted of the offence to which the rent repayment order applies.  
This is regardless of whether or not the local housing authority or tenant has applied for a lesser 
amount.  Where the landlord has not been convicted, the First-tier Tribunal will determine the 
amount to be repaid in accordance with section 44 (tenants) or section 45 (local housing 
authorities) of the Housing and Planning Act 2016. 

 
8.9 Where a landlord has been convicted of any of the offences listed at paragraph 4.2 and the rent 

repayment order, or part of it, is being made in favour of the local housing authority (because 
rent was paid through Housing Benefit/Universal Credit), the First-tier Tribunal must require the 
landlord to repay all of the rent paid to the landlord by the local housing authority up to a 
maximum of 12 months, provided the conditions in section 46 of the Housing and Planning Act 
2016 are met. 

  

Page 17



 

Appendix 1   
 
Housing Act 2004 Charging table for initial guidance on value of Financial Penalty to be considered  
 

Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (Section 30)                  £ 

1st offence (note 1)                                                                                                     5000 

2nd subsequent offence by same person/company(note 2) 15000 

Subsequent offences by same person/company (note 7)                                           25000 

    

Premiums (use all that apply)    

Acts or omissions demonstrating high culpability (note 8)                                          +2500 

Large housing portfolio (10+ units of accommodation)(note 3) +2500 

Multiple Category 1 or high Category 2 Hazards (note 4) +2500 

Vulnerable occupant and/or significant harm occurred as result of housing conditions 
(note 5)                                                                                                      

+2500 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week (note 6)                      -50% 
 

Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs (note1) 
under Part 2 of the Act (Section 72)  

£ 

Failure to obtain property Licence (section 72(1))(note 1) 10000 

2nd subsequent offence by same person/company (note 2)                                      30000 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week (note 6) -50% 

    

Breach of Licence conditions (Section 72(2) and (3)) - Per licence breach 5000 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week (note 6) -50% 

  

Offences in relation to licensing of HMOs  
under Part 3 of the Act (Section 95)                                                           

£ 

Failure to Licence (section 95(1))(note 1) 10000 

2nd subsequent offence by same person/company (note 2) 30000 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week (note 6) -50% 

Breach of Licence conditions (Section 95(2)) - Per licence breach 5000 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week (note 6) -50% 

  

Offences of contravention of an overcrowding notice (section 139)      £ 

1st relevant offences (note 1) 5000 

2nd subsequent offence by same person/company (note 2)                                      15000 

    

Premiums (use all that apply)   

Acts or omissions demonstrating high culpability (note 8)                                      +2500 

Vulnerable occupant and/or significant harm occurred as result of overcrowding (note 
3) 

+2500 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week(note 6) -50% 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 18



 

Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of HMOs (Section 234) 
                                                                                              

£ 

1st relevant offences (note 1)                                                                                      1000/offence  

Second subsequent offences by same person/company for the same offence  3000/offence 
  

Premiums (use all that apply)   

Acts or omissions demonstrating high culpability (note 8) +2500 

Large housing portfolio (10+ units of accommodations) (note 3) +2500 

Vulnerable occupant and/or significant harm occurred as result of housing conditions  
(note 5) 

+2500 

Perpetrator demonstrates Income to be less than £440/week(note 6) -50% 

 
 
Notes 
 
Note 1 - Offences that may be dealt with by way of imposing a financial penalty 
 

  The starting point for a financial penalty is based on the number of previous convictions or 
imposition of a financial penalty for the same type of offence in the previous four years.  

 
  After the starting point has been determined, relevant Premiums are added to the starting 

amount to assist in determining the full financial penalty to be imposed. 
 
  No single financial penalty may be over £30,000. Where the addition of all relevant premiums 

would put the penalty above the maximum, it shall be capped at £30,000 
 
 

Note 2 - 2nd subsequent offence by same person/company 
 

  The Council will take into account any such convictions or financial penalties irrespective of the 
locality to which the offence relates. 

 
 

Note 3 - Large housing portfolio (10+ units of accommodation) 
 

  The premium is applied where the perpetrator has control or manages of 10 or more units of 
accommodation. 

 
For the purposes of this premium, the definition of a person having control and person   
managing are as defined by Housing Act 2004 Section 263. 

 
 

Note 4 - Multiple Category 1 or high Category 2 Hazards 
 

This premium will apply where the failure to comply with the Improvement Notice relates to 
three or more Category 1 or high scoring Category 2 hazards associated with different building 
deficiencies. For the avoidance of doubt this means that where two hazards are present but 
relate to the same property defect, they are counted as one hazard for purposes of this 
calculation.  
 
For the purpose of this premium, a high scoring category 2 hazard is defined as one scored 
following the Housing Health and Safety Rating System as “D” or “E”. 

 

Page 19



 

 
Note 5 - Vulnerable occupant and/or significant harm occurred as result of housing conditions 
 

This premium will be applied once if either the property is occupied by a vulnerable person or if 
significant harm has occurred as a result of the housing conditions. 
 
For purposes of this premium a vulnerable person is defined as someone who forms part of a 
vulnerable group under Housing Health and Safety Rating System relating to hazards present 
in the property or an occupant or group of occupants considered by the Council to be at 
particular risk of harm that the perpetrator ought to have had regard. 
 
For purposes of this premium, significant harm is defined as physical or mental illness or injury 
that corresponds to one of the four classes of harm under the Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System Operating Guidance.  At the time of publication this document can be found at 
www.gov.uk and a summary table is below. 

 
 

Hazard Vulnerable age 
group (age of 
occupant) 

Damp and mould growth 14 and under 

Excess Cold 65 or over 

Excess Heat 65 or over 

Carbon Monoxide  65 or over 

Lead under 3 years 

Personal Hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage under 5 years 

Falls associated with baths etc. 60 or over 

Falling on level surfaces etc. 60 or over 

Falling on stairs etc. 60 or over 

Falling between levels under 5 years 

Electrical hazards under 5 years 

Fire 60 or over 

Flames, hot surfaces etc. under 5 years 

Collision and entrapment under 5 years 

Collision and entrapment - low headroom 16 or over 

Position and operability of amenities etc. 60 or over 

 
 
Note 6 - Perpetrator demonstrates income to be less than £440/week Net 
 

This premium will be applied after all other relevant premiums have been included and if 
applicable will reduce the overall financial penalty by 50%.  
                    
To be applicable, the person served by the Notice of Intent must provide sufficient documented 
evidence of income. 
 
The figure of £440/week is to be calculated after omission of income tax and national 
insurance.  
 

Page 20

http://www.gov.uk/


 

The Council reserves the right to request further information to support any financial claim, and 
where this is incomplete or not sufficiently evidenced may determine that the premium should 
not be applied.  

 
 
Note 7 - Previous history of non-compliance with these provisions 
 

This premium is applied where there has been a conviction or imposition of a financial penalty 
for the same type of offence in the previous four years.  

 
The Council will take into account any such convictions or financial penalties irrespective of the 
locality to which the offence relates. 

 
 

Note 8 - Acts or omissions demonstrating high culpability   
                                        

This premium will be applied where, the person to which the financial penalty applies, acted in 
a reckless or deliberate manner in not complying with the statutory notice or previous relevant 
formal advice.  

 
 
Once the specific circumstances of the case have been considered using the above mechanism, the 
decision to apply a civil penalty and determination of the civil penalty amount will be reviewed by 
another officer to aid consistency and ensure fair application of the framework for the given situation. 
Other factors to consider will be the amount of any apparent financial gain, avoidance, council costs 
and harm to the tenant as well as a deterrent factor.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

 
 
  

Page 22



 

Appendix 2    
 
Process for imposing Civil Penalty charges  
 
1.0 Where it has been determined that a civil penalty may be appropriate to impose as an 

alternative to prosecution, the Council will follow the following process. 
 
1.1  A “Notice of Intent” shall be served on the person suspected of the offence, specifying: 
 

a. The amount of any proposed financial penalty 
b. The reasons for proposing the financial penalty 
c. Information about the right to make representation to the Council.  

 
1.2 The person to which the notice relates will be given 28 days to make written representation to 

the Council about the proposal to impose a financial penalty. The representation may be via any 
legible written format, but to aid respondents, a form will be included with the Notice of Intent. 

 
1.3 Following the 28 day period the Council will decide: 

a. Whether to impose a financial penalty on the person, and  
b. The value of any such penalty imposed. 

 
1.4 If the Council decides to impose a financial penalty, a final notice shall be issued imposing that 

penalty. The final notice will specify: 
 

a. the amount of the financial penalty,  
b. the reasons for imposing the penalty, 
c. information about how to pay the penalty, 
d. the period for payment of the penalty, 
e. information about rights of appeal to the First tier Tribunal 
f. the consequences of failure to comply with the notice. 

 
1.5  Consequences of non-compliance and miscellaneous provisions 
 
1.6 If, after any appeal has been finally determined or withdrawn, a person receiving a financial 

penalty does not pay all or part of the penalty charge, the Council will recover the penalty by 
order from a County Court. Where appropriate, the Council will also seek to recover the costs 
incurred in taking this action from the person to which the civil penalty relates. 

 
1.7  Financial Penalties are an alternative to criminal proceedings and as such if a penalty is 

imposed, no criminal proceedings can be initiated for the same offence 
  
1.8 The Council may, at any time: 
 
  a. Withdraw a notice of intent or final notice 
  b. reduce the amount specified in a notice of intent or final notice 
  

Where the Council decides to take either action, it will write to the person to whom the notice 
was given. 

 
1.9  Where a person has received two civil penalties under this legislation in any 12 month period, 

irrespective of the locality to which the offences were committed, the Council will consider 
making an entry on the national database of rogue landlords and property agents. When 
considering making an entry, the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State. 

 

Page 23



 

Appendix 3  
 

The Electrical Safety Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 2020 
 
Standard Penalty fines to be considered: 
 
Penalty fine for each first offence under the regulations £1,000. 
 
Penalty fine for each subsequent offence under the regulations by the same landlord £3,000. 
 
Each individual case to be determined on its own merits and culpability of the offender and 
mitigating circumstances to be considered that may vary from the proposed standard penalty 
fines set out above. 
 
Multiple breaches of the regulations by the same landlord at the same property will accumulate 
to no more than £30,000. 
 
 
Where the council is satisfied that an offence has occurred for which a Penalty fine under the 
regulations appears appropriate, a Notice of Intent will be issued to the private landlord giving 
28 days for them to make representations. 
Any representations received will be considered in a case review by the manager of the 
investigating officer and subject to legal advice prior to determination of whether to issue a 
financial penalty and the amount of that penalty. 
 
The proceeds of any financial penalty received under these regulations will be applied to the 
costs of the enforcement functions in relation to the private rented sector. 
 
 
 
  

Page 24



 

Appendix 4 
 
The Energy Efficiency (Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015  

Landlords need to meet minimum energy efficiency standards in private rented accommodation from 1st 

April 2020. Those found not to be in compliance will normally be informed and given time to comply with 

the requirements.  However where found that the landlord has not responded to ensure or move in a 

reasonable time to comply, or known to have submitted false or misleading information to gain an 

exemption, or those landlords having a history of non compliance, then a financial penalty under the 

above regulations will normally be considered appropriate.  

 

Guidance for determining the level of a financial penalty  

The maximum level of penalty varied on the type of breach under the regulations 

Financial penalties (Regulation 40) 

Where the local authority decides to impose a financial penalty, they have the discretion to decide on 

the amount of the penalty, up to maximum limits set by the Regulations. The maximum penalties are as 

follows: 

(a) Where the landlord has let a sub-standard property in breach of the Regulations for a period of 

less than 3 months, the Local Authority may impose a financial penalty of up to £2,000 and may 

impose a publication penalty 

(b) Where the landlord has let a sub-standard property in breach of the regulations for 3 months or 

more, the Local Authority may impose a financial penalty of up to £4,000 and may impose a 

publication penalty 

(c) Where the landlord has registered false of misleading information on the PRS Exemptions 

register, the local authority may impose a financial penalty of up to £1,000 and may impose the 

publication penalty. 

(d) Where the landlord has failed to comply with compliance notice, the Local Authority may impose 

a financial penalty of up to £2,000 and may impose a publication penalty. 

 

The council will use the following matrix as an initial  guide to officers to determine the 

appropriate penalty 

 Low culpability High culpability Notes 

Low harm 25% 50% % = Proportion of 
maximum penalty  High harm 50% 100% 

 

Notes – 

If two or more Penalty Notices apply, the combined maximum per property per breach will be £5,000. 

Officers may wish to adjust the penalty from that determined in the matrix if there are particular 

aggravating or mitigating factors. These may come to light during the investigation and will need to be 

included in the Penalty Notice. 

Also, factors may be provided in representations from a landlord in his request to review after the 
Penalty Notice has been served. Officers will have regard to these factors and may adjust the penalty to 

Page 25



 

increase or reduce as they feel appropriate. Landlords will be provided with a minimum of one month 
and normally 6 weeks to request a review, presenting any information they wish considered as part of 
that review.  The landlord will be served a notice after the review with an explanation of any adjustment 
made. Any representations received will be considered in a case review by the manager of the 
investigating officer and subject to legal advice prior to determination of whether to confirm, vary, 
withdraw the financial penalty or allow more time for payment to be made. 
 
The proceeds of any financial penalty received under these regulations will be applied to the costs of 
the enforcement functions in relation to the private rented sector. 
 

If a local authority confirms that a property is (or has been) let in breach of the Regulations, they 

may serve a financial penalty up to 18 months after the breach and/or publish details of the 

breach for at least 12 months. 

 

Factors affecting the culpability – 

Low - 

× Landlords first offence under these regulations 

× No previous history of non-compliance with housing related regulatory requirements 

× Non –compliance due to complex issues partially out of the landlords control 

High -  

× Landlord has a previous history of non-compliance with housing related regulatory requirements 

and/or landlord has failed to comply with requests to comply with requests to comply with these 

regulations 

× Landlord has knowingly or recklessly provided incorrect information in relation to exemptions to 

these regulations 

× Apparent financial gain by the landlord or avoidance of cost of works 

 

Factors affecting harm –  

High –  

× Very low EPC rating 

× Vulnerable tenants occupying the property for an extended period of time since non-compliance 

× Estimated financial costs to tenant of living in a home that costs more to heat. 

Low – 

× No vulnerable tenants 

× Higher EPC score, close to the minimum EPC rating (E) 

 

Tables below show the penalty matrix for each type of offence 

a) Breach is less than 3 months : Maximum fine £2,000 

 Low culpability High culpability Notes 

Low harm £500 £1000 % = Proportion of 
maximum penalty  High harm £1000 £2000 

 

Page 26



 

b) Breach is more than 3 months : Maximum fine £4,000 

 Low culpability High culpability Notes 

Low harm £1000 £2000 % = Proportion of 
maximum penalty  High harm £2000 £4000 

 

c) Providing false or misleading information : Maximum fine £1,000 

 Low culpability High culpability Notes 

Low harm £250 £500 % = Proportion of 
maximum penalty  High harm £500 £1000 

 

d) Failing to comply with a Compliance Notice : Maximum fine £2,000 

 Low culpability High culpability Notes 

Low harm £500 £1000 % = Proportion of 
maximum penalty  High harm £1000 £2000 

Principles the council will take into account when applying a civil penalty: 

 

1. Harm to the tenant. The greater the harm or potential harm to the tenant, the higher the penalty 

should be. 

 

2. Offender’s history of failing to comply with their obligations. Landlords are expected to be 

aware of their legal obligations and responsibilities. This could be when a landlords actions are 

seen as deliberate or they should have known they were in breach of their legal responsibilities.  

 

3. Punishment of the offender. The civil penalty route should not be seen as an easy option 

compared to prosecution. Whilst the penalty should follow the matrix, it is important that it is set 

at a high enough level to help ensure that it has a real economic impact on the offender and has 

demonstrated that there are consequences for not complying with their responsibilities. 

 

4. Prevent further offences. The level of the penalty should be set high enough so it is likely to 

deter the offender from repeating the same offence again, or any other offence. 

 

5. Deter others from committing similar offences. Although it is not made known to the public 

when someone is served a civil penalty, it is possible landlords may find out as in their local 

area landlords become aware through informal channels. By setting a high enough penalty it 

should both punish the offender and deter other landlords from doing the same. 

 

6. Remove financial benefit. The offender may have obtained a financial benefit as a result of 

committing the offence so it is crucial to ensure they have not benefited as a result of the 

offence. It should not be cheaper to offend then to ensure a property is well maintained and 

properly managed. 

 

 

 

Culpability - Responsibility for a fault or wrong. Being culpable, is a measure of the degree to 

which a person, can be held morally or legally responsible for action and inaction.  

 

Harm - The damage to something which is caused by a particular course of action. 
 
 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to: Communities Committee, 16th March 2022 
 

Report of: Corporate Director, Operations, Homes & Communities 
 

 
Subject: PROPOSED COMMITTEE PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR 2022/23 

 
1. Recommendation 
 

1.1 That the Communities Committee consider the proposed content of the 
Communities Performance Scorecard for 2022/23. 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 The City Council’s Performance Scorecards provide a one page overview of priority 

activities and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for each committee. These are 

supported by more detailed reports providing brief narrative updates for projects and 
activities and a visual representation of PIs in the form of run graphs or charts as 

applicable.  These are reported to Committees on a quarterly basis. 
 

2.2 The content of the Performance Scorecards for Communities Committee has been 

reviewed by the senior management team and committee chair and vice chair as 
part of the Council’s service planning processes for 2022/23 to ensure that it remains 

relevant and continue to reflect ‘what matters most’ under the functions of the 
committee. 
 

2.3 The current key projects and activities and performance indicators (PIs) have been 
refreshed, taking account of the completion of current projects and the 

commencement of new activities. 

2.4 Proposed targets have been developed based on a principle of performance 
improvement where this is realistic. 

3. Information  
 

3.1 The proposed content of the Communities Committee Performance Scorecard for 
2022/23 is attached as Appendix 1 which includes details of 2021/22 scorecard 
content which will be removed. 

 
Ward(s):   All 

Contact Officer:  Jo Payne, Corporate Policy & Strategy Officer 
    Tel: 01905 722407 
   Email: joanna.payne@worcester.gov.uk  

Background Papers: None 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7

mailto:joanna.payne@worcester.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 1 
Communities Committee  
Proposed Scorecard Content 2022/23    
 
Key Projects and Activities 

To develop a Worcester City Community Engagement Strategy 

To develop a Worcester City Housing Enabling Strategy 

Next Steps Accomodation of Rough Sleepers (accomodated through COVID-19) 

New for 2021/22  

Progression of Capital Budget Allocations to Business 
Case Stage  

To monitor progress on 
approved projects including 

Comer Gardens Institute, 
Elbury Mount ASB Project and 
Northwick Park Artificial 

Cricket Wicket 

Perdiswell Leisure Centre Replacement Floor Tile 
Project 

Key project for council 

Acquisition of additional temporary accommodation To monitor progress against 

the Councils ambition to 
procure 64 units of 
temporary accommodation 

Remove  Reason for removal 

Implementation of City Centre Public Spaces Protection 
Order 

Completed 

Partnership Delivery of Inland Waterways Festival 

2021 

Completed 

Delivery of 3 affordable housing developments in the 
City 

Completed 

Review of existing Public Spaces Protection Orders Completed 

Community Recovery Strategy Reported on bi-annually to 

Communities Committee 

To implement the recommendations from the Child 
Poverty Task & Finish Group 

Responsibility now sits with 
Health & Wellbeing 
Committee 

 

Key PIs 21/22 

Target 

22/23 

Target 

Target Rationale 

Number of Community events 
supported  

200 200  

No. of Worcester Community 

Grants awarded   

15 15  

Tennis in Parks – participation for 
free  
 

180 180  

Page 31 Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1

https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1494770/cs-pi-007-number-of-community-events-supported
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1494770/cs-pi-007-number-of-community-events-supported


2 

Key PIs 21/22 
Target 

22/23 
Target 

Target Rationale 

Tennis in Parks - paid for 

participation   

1850 1850  

‘FindItDoIt’ Worcester number 
unique website visits  

5,000 5000  

Total number of crime incidents  Data 

only 

Data 

only 

 

Number of anti-social behaviour 
(ASB) incidents  

Data 
only 

Data 
only 

 

Active participation at leisure 

centres  

tbc tbc  

Number of sport and play activities 
participants  

tbc tbc  

Percentage of HMO’s licensed 75% 75%  

Number of private sector dwellings 

where Category 1 hazards are 
removed through our intervention 

5 5  

Number of private sector dwellings 

where Category 2 hazards are 
removed through our intervention 

5 5  

Total number of households placed 

in temporary accomodation  

Data 

only 

Data 

only 

 

Number of affordable housing 
completions ANNUAL 

200 200  

New for 2021/22 21/22 
Target 

22/23 
Target 

Reason for Addition  
Target Rationale 

Asset Based Community 
Development Outcomes (No of 
conversations, groups formed etc) 

 TBC We wish to formalise the way 
the Community Engagement 
Team are working and report 

on the variety of outputs 
delivered 

Number of people owed a main 

housing duty 

 TBC These 3 Key PIs will present 

core homelessness 
information in a more simpler 
manner 

% of successful homelessness 
preventions 

 TBC 

% of successful homelessness 

reliefs completed 

 TBC 

Total No of Households placed in 
B&B Accomodation 

 TBC These 3 Key PIs are 
intrinsically linked with our 
ability to prevent 

homelessness and our aim to 
increase provision of suitable 

temporary accommodation. 

Total No of nights in B&B 

Accommodation 

 TBC 

No of children placed in B&B 
Accomodation 
 

 

 TBC 

Page 32

https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431651/csp-pi-001-total-number-of-crime-incidents
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431653/csp-pi-003-number-of-anti-social-behaviour-asb-incidents
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431653/csp-pi-003-number-of-anti-social-behaviour-asb-incidents
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431661/ls-pi-001-active-participation-at-leisure-centres
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431661/ls-pi-001-active-participation-at-leisure-centres
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431662/ls-pi-002-number-of-sport-and-play-activities-participants
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1431662/ls-pi-002-number-of-sport-and-play-activities-participants
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1435135/sh-pi-001-number-of-affordable-housing-completions
https://worcester.pentanarpm.uk/pis/show/1435135/sh-pi-001-number-of-affordable-housing-completions


3 

Key PIs 21/22 
Target 

22/23 
Target 

Target Rationale 

Remove Reason for removal 

Homelessness Resolution 

(Preventions and Relief) 

Much of the data within these KPIs will be 

reproduced as part of proposed new KPIs, but in a 
simpler style Number of preventions and reliefs 

by funded partner agencies (CAB 

& CCP) 

Percentage of households owed a 
duty where homelessness was 

prevented 

Percentage of households not 
owed a duty where homelessness 

was prevented 

Percentage of households owed a 
duty whose homelessness was 
relieved 

  

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Review of the Housing Enforcement Policy
	Appendix 1 - Housing Enforcement Policy

	7 Proposed Committee Performance Scorecard for 2022/23
	Appendix 1 - Communities Scorecard 22-23 Final


